



Report of the Fourth Session of the IOTC Working Party on Tagging

Shanghai, People's Republic of China June 3-11, 2002

TABLE OF CONTENTS

T.	FABLE OF CONTENTS 0				
1.	OPENING OF THE MEETING	.1			
2.	FUNDING	.1			
	IPTP	. 1			
	EU DG-Dev	. 1			
	OTHER EUROPEAN COMMISSION FUNDING (DG-DEV AND DG-FISH)	. 1			
	OTHER OFFERS	. 2			
3.	OTHER TAGGING PROJECTS IN THE INDIAN OCEAN	.2			
4.	INDIAN OCEAN TUNA TAGGING PROGRAMME	.3			
	PROGRESS SINCE THE LAST MEETING	. 3			
	REVISED ORGANISATION AND GOALS	. 3			
	SPECIFIC ISSUES RELATED TO CURRENT ACTIVITIES	4			
	PILOT PROJECTS	6			
	SMALL AND LARGE-SCALE PROJECTS	. 7			
5.	FUTURE OF THE IOTTP	8			
6.	CLOSE OF THE MEETING	.9			
A	PPENDIX I – LIST OF PARTICIPANTS1	12			
A	PPENDIX II – AGENDA 1	16			
A	PPENDIX III – RECENTLY COMPLETED PILOT STUDY IN MAYOTTE 1	l 7			
P	LOT PROGRAMME FOR TEST FISHING IN SEYCHELLES1	8			
P	ROPOSAL FOR SMALL-SCALE TAGGING IN MAYOTTE 1	19			
P	ROPOSAL FOR SMALL-SCALE TAGGING IN INDIA2	20			
A	PPENDIX IV: LIST OF PROPOSED NATIONAL LIAISON OFFICERS	21			

1. OPENING OF THE MEETING

The 4th meeting of the WPT was held in association with the 4th session of the Working Party on Tropical Tunas in Shanghai, China, between 3 and 11 June 2002. The meeting was convened by the chairman, Alain Fonteneau from IRD, France. The List of Participants is included as Appendix I and the Agenda of the meeting is included as Appendix II. David Agnew was nominated as rapporteur of the meeting.

2. FUNDING

In 2000 the WPT identified that the cost of a full tagging programme would be US\$16M. In 2001 the WPT revised this to a requirement for US\$12M based on the fact that a revised small scale tagging program was proposed by the EC. The WPT now recognises that such funding is unlikely to be provided in a single amount, and that the tagging programme strategy requires re-formulation to take account of this. This is considered further in Section 4.2. The following funding is currently available, or likely to be available in the near future:

IPTP

The IOTC is now in receipt of US\$184 000 of IPTP funds. These have been allocated to pilot projects at Mayotte and Seychelles. The Mayotte pilot project is reported on below, and plans for the pilot project at the Seychelles are discussed in detail in section 4.

EU DG-Dev

As discussed at previous meetings, €4.5M may be available through the EC Directorate General for Development (DG-Dev). The project will be funded on the request of two countries from the western Indian Ocean area, and Seychelles and Mauritius have made the appropriate bid.

There is a good chance of being able to obtain this funding, which will probably be available from 2004. The first part of the procurement process is underway, with a detailed feasibility study due to be undertaken in the second half of 2002. This study will be undertaken by a consultant to DG-Dev (to be chosen in June 2002), will have a budget of up to €175,000, and will identify a detailed proposal, work plan and budget for the main tagging project.

The consultants will use the reports of WPT and WPTT, as well as discussions with the Mauritius and Seychelles Governments and the IOTC Secretariat to develop a detailed project plan. In this regard, it was noted that the original plan included funding to cover both pilot studies and at least part of the main IOTTP. Since the funds are unlikely to be available until at least the end of 2003, most of the pilot projects are likely to have been completed.

Other European Commission funding (DG-Dev and DG-Fish)

The EC DG FISH has offered a yearly budget of $\notin 200.000$ (about US\$180 000) for the IOTC tagging program. This funding would be available in 2002 and the IOTC Secretariat will propose tagging plans corresponding to this budget. Any project for which this funding is requested must have clearly identified objectives. This funding is apparently linked to funding that should be given by other industrialized fishing nations.

A project over-run of up to 20% is apparently allowed on the current DG-Dev project, but will not be in the plan. There is also the possibility of obtaining extension funding from DG-Dev, under the *Commission de l'Océan Indien* (COI) framework, if the initial project is successful. Therefore, there may be potentially about €5M additional DG-Dev funds available from COI in the medium term.

New funding arrangements from DG-Fish may also allow the contribution of up to €IM of EC money per year for up to three years for tuna tagging requested by Regional Fisheries Organizations to which EU Member States are parties. The IOTC tagging programme might indirectly qualify for such assistance. These funds would be given to EU states which are fishing tunas and billfish in the Indian Ocean. These countries should elaborate their national tagging programmes in full coordination with the IOTC and its WPT

Other offers

Japan may provide US\$80,000 per year for five years for the tagging project but has not yet given any firm commitment. It was also suggested that Japan might supply vessels for use in the tagging programme. This would constitute a considerable "in kind" contribution, but there is still no firm commitment. Such in kind contribution would be highly valuable for the program if such tagging vessel could be provided for long duration.

Various EU tuna associations have offered their full support the IOTC tagging program, but this support is not yet fully identified in practical terms.

Some EC companies have also suggested that vessels currently tied up in the capacity reduction programme might be used as "in kind" contributions if the EC agreed to use the compensation funds for this purpose. This question is being discussed by the EC.

The Mayotte and La Réunion authorities have also expressed their willingness to provide "in kind" support for tagging studies conducted in their waters, taking into account their interest to maintain sustainable tuna fisheries in their waters. Practical plans would need to be developed. All such offers are gratefully received.

The WPT recommended that the Commission request that the offers by Japan and EC be confirmed and fully integrated in the IOTP tagging program.

Despite continued representation, no response has been forthcoming from the World Bank Global Environment Facility (GEF) in respect of funding for the tagging project under its "Large Marine Ecosystems" programme.

3. OTHER TAGGING PROJECTS IN THE INDIAN OCEAN

Japan has been tagging some tropical tunas on an opportunistic basis as part of its southern bluefin tuna tagging programme, although no bigeye tuna has been tagged to date.

The WPT recalled the decision that the IOTC should be the repository of all tuna tagging data from the Indian Ocean. To that end, it urged all parties and cooperating RFMOs to send all their tagging and recovery data to the IOTC Secretariat, which is developing a tag database for integration into WinTuna.

4. INDIAN OCEAN TUNA TAGGING PROGRAMME

Progress since the last meeting

As requested at the last meeting of the WPT (2001) the Secretariat has purchased a number of Hallprint tags and a video camera. Some tags and the camera were used in the Mayotte pilot study (see below) and tags have been supplied to IFREMER in La Réunion for use on an opportunistic basis in their dolphinfish tagging programme. A quotation has been requested for the supply of materials for FADs, and it is understood that floats and possibly chains will be provided by a company in Seychelles free of charge.

A pilot study on tagging from a small longliner and the fisheries office launch was carried out at Mayotte in 2002. The project involved meetings with the public, fishermen, managers to publicise the project, development of a tagging cradle, one long-line tagging set, three handline tagging days on free school tuna or on anchored FADs and meetings with the aquaculture professionals about the possibilities of *Chanos chanos* production. The stern of the 8m vessel was level with the sea surface, making it easy to bring fish aboard and tag them on a purpose-built, adjustable table. 15 fish were tagged, 9 on the longline set and 6 on the handline tagging days, taking fish caught by local handliners by transferring the line to the tagging vessel. The experience showed that tagging from longliners and using handliners was feasible in Mayotte. The handline method requires good weather, but one tagging boat can be supplied with good condition tuna from 5 - 15 cooperating handline vessels. Good cooperation with the fishing community is essential for this project, but initial indications are that fishermen are keen to cooperate on the project.

Revised organisation and goals

It was recognised that while the full requirement of US\$12M for the IOTTP might eventually be reached, it was most unlikely to be available as a single sum. It is more likely to be available as a series of separate funds provided by a variety of funding sources with significant contributions from IOTC Members and industry "in kind". The value of such "in kind" contributions can be high, but requires considerably more effort to coordinate with other activities of the programme than simple financial contributions. In the light of this situation, it was agreed that a more detailed sequential plan needs to be developed to realise the aims of both small-scale and large-scale projects.

It was nevertheless agreed that the original goals of the programme should be retained, and that it continue to be composed of pilot, small-scale and large-scale projects.

The aim of pilot studies (pilot projects) would be to investigate the feasibility tagging using non conventional tagging vessels and gears, or solving the problems of live bait. Thus, different pilot studies may be required for different areas, tagging methods and species. Pilot studies may be necessary precursors to both small-scale and large-scale projects.

The aim of small-scale projects will be to answer specific scientific questions targeting management problems. Their goals and objectives would be specific and limited. For instance, to investigate tuna movements and growth at given sizes and in specific areas of interest (such as Mozambique Channel or Seychelles Islands).

The aim of large-scale projects would be to answer a wide range of questions about tuna movements, growth, natural mortality etc (Table 1 from the 1st Session of the Working Party on Tagging, Seychelles, 2000) over the whole Indian Ocean and to provide all the results which are necessary to do a consistent stock assessment of Indian Ocean tropical tuna stocks.

Specific issues related to current activities

The problem of live bait

The WPT has proposed large-scale pole-and-line tagging operations which will require a supply of live bait in various areas. As live bait has been seldom used by pole and line vessels in the Indian Ocean, there is a need to study this problem. The Seychelles is proposed as the most appropriate place to undertake the baitfish pilot project, due to its ideal location as a potential tagging location. This derives from its position, located centrally in the western Indian Ocean fishing zones and close to the Somalia FAD fishery, and the availability of support from the staff of the IOTC Secretariat, IRD and the Seychelles Fisheries Authority. A pilot project on live bait acquisition will involve the identification of suitable baitfish and identification of methods to capture such fish around the Seychelles.

The WPT discussed the availability of two sources for baitfish. Around the Seychelles horse mackerel *Decapterus* spp. are likely to prove hardier when maintained as live baitfish than *Sardinella*. Capture methods would probably be beach seines or small ringnets, but it was noted that there may be considerable difficulty in successfully locating and capturing the fish. For instance the Spanish pole-and-line fishery (1983-84) successfully caught baitfish but had to operate at night with no lights.

An alternative could be to use commercially available milkfish (*Chanos chanos*). Milkfish, which must then be air freighted from Taiwan, cost \$20,000 for 100,000 fry. An additional factor is that the fry must be grown to 10—12g in size to be useful for tagging, so that 1t of bait would cost \$20,000 plus the cost of feed, even in the absence of significant mortality. Baitboats would usually take 1t of bait at a time for tagging purposes, so the cost of using milkfish would be high. It was noted that baitfish may also be available from other areas in the western Indian Ocean, for instance Réunion, but it would be preferable to capture them close to the area in which tagging is to be undertaken.

There is a research group working on small pelagics at La Réunion. This group captures fish using ringnets and keeps them alive in basins. Other experiments keeping fish in cages are underway. The WPT agreed to approach this group to investigate the type of cages used, their cost and supply and whether they could be used for the baitfish pilot project in the Seychelles and at what cost.

It was reported that there are two companies based on Mayotte which could assist with the production of milkfish, grown from imported fry. It may be possible to grow them on early in the season (by March) to be used in tagging, and to keep them at the optimum 8-15cm during the whole tagging period through feed control. It was also reported that similar plans to develop farming of milkfish are presently studied in Seychelles.

The WPT agreed that a baitfish project should be undertaken in the Seychelles in 2003 to investigate the feasibility of locating and capturing baitfish. Detailed planning for the project should take into account the above discussion on baitfish capture and storage. A consultant master fisherman will need to be appointed to the IOTC Secretariat. The availability of the SFA research vessel, *l'Amitié* should be ensured and the necessary fishing gear ordered. Possible sheltered locations for the cages should be established in the planning phase. A detailed budget will need to be developed by the IOTC secretariat and SFA.

Tagging by sport fisheries

Last year WPT recommended that IOTC Secretariat should undertake a study to identify all areas where sport fishing takes tuna around the Indian Ocean. There are rather few areas where there are significant sports fishing activities (South Africa, Mauritius, Réunion, Seychelles, Malindi (Kenya), Phuket, Australia). In most of these areas it is perceived that it would be difficult to encourage sports fishermen to

tag and release tuna although there is active billfish tagging in several locations. In many, revenue from tuna sales is used to subsidise charter boat incomes. It was suggested that the recapture reward system could be modified to provide a reward to both the tagger and the tag finder, but this would be difficult to administer. The IOTTP budget would not allow any routine payment for tagged fish to sports fishermen. Furthermore, there would be difficulties in ensuring that fish are tagged correctly and have a high subsequent survival. East coast USA tagging schemes target a well trained subset of sports fishing boats, a method that would be difficult and expensive to implement in the Indian Ocean.

For the moment, WPT agreed that tagging by sports fisheries should receive a low priority within the IOTTP. However, it would be useful to evaluate better their potential use and to already contact some specific clubs (for example in Réunion, Seychelles, Mayotte and Mauritius) and commission a short paper from Julian Pepperel to identify potential clubs. It may be more useful, for instance, to use selected sport clubs as specific vehicles for small scale studies using archival or pop-up tags.

Publicity and rewards

The WPT recognises that publicity is expensive but is an integral part of tagging programmes. For the main programme (short and long-term projects) publicity will need to be targeted at fishermen and major landing points, such as purse seiners, bngline associations, main transhipment ports and canneries. This publicity must ensure that fishers and processors are fully aware of all the relevant data that is required from tagged fish. There is some doubt, however, whether artisanal fisheries can be targeted effectively by publicity campaigns because of the administrative difficulties involved in such "diffuse" situations. This publicity must ensure that fishers and processors are fully aware of all the relevant data that is required from tagged fish. Studies may need to be undertaken, for instance seeding canneries with tagged fish, to test the effectiveness of publicity campaigns. Finally, significant resources must be provided for the Secretariat to administer the scheme.

Rewards need to take account of the motivation of different fishing sectors and countries. There should be a double reward system, consisting of an immediate reward (a cap, T-Shirt or \$5) as well as information on the tagged fish, and an annual prize draw, for example for \$1 000. There will need to be a system for the rapid provision of rewards to tag finders, which will necessitate having local representatives in the various areas where tagged tuna will be recovered. There may need to be some consideration of the minimum tag/fish information that is required for a finder to be included in either the immediate reward or the prize draw.

Even though the pilot projects under the IOTTP are expected to tag rather few fish, it may be worth considering limited publicity campaigns targeted at major landing points. Publicity can be organised at western Indian Ocean canneries and IOTC sampling schemes as soon as a tagging operation will start. Such campaigns should aim to be inexpensive (consisting of posters and small monetary rewards only) and simple to administer. Each pilot project should make specific provision for any limited publicity campaigns within its budget. It should also be borne in mind that too much publicity in situations where fishers or processors are very unlikely to encounter a tagged fish may act negatively on the effectiveness of publicity for the main programme.

A more extensive campaign of publicity should be developed by the IOTC as soon as the first small scale tagging will be carried out. This publicity will be limited to the main landing ports where scientists are already sampling the tuna landings and where tags can be easily identified and rewards easily paid.

It would be useful to have higher levels of reward for small-scale tagging projects that will be using expensive tags, such as internal archival tags. With a tag costing \$3 000 an immediate reward of \$1 000 may be appropriate in order to encourage a full identification of all these valuable fished tags. These

tagging programmes will need specialised publicity allowing efficient and safe recuperation by scientists of these electronic tags.

Other publicity

A slide show explaining the need for an Indian Ocean tagging program and the methods and goals of the IOTC tagging program itself, has been prepared on CD-ROM. This CD-ROM is available under request at the IOTC Secretariat (in French and in English). The use by scientists of this IOTTP slide show should be encouraged in order to facilitate better communication with administrations and fishermen. This poster should also be placed on line in the IOTC web site.

The Seychelles Fisheries Authority has produced a poster on the prospects and interest of tuna tagging in the Indian Ocean (in French and in English), which includes information tagging, which is also useful publicity. The WPT recommends that the IOTC should make copies of these posters in order to disseminate them to all interested parties.

Pilot projects

The WPT recalled that the Mayotte project was the only pilot project that has been undertaken to date. The project was successful in demonstrating the feasibility of tagging YFT around Mayotte. The study has reinforced the need to conduct pilot studies of tagging from sampans, and the use of dead bait as a substitute for live bait, in accordance with the advice of WPT-2 (2001). It was agreed that tagging at Mayotte should now enter the next phase of the IOTTP small-scale projects.

Considerable information still needs to be gathered on sources of bait and mechanisms of maintaining bait alive before a pilot project can be defined (see section 4.3.1). Scientists on Seychelles, Mayotte and Réunion were encouraged to undertake such investigations and develop a pilot project proposal.

A possible pilot project to tag YFT and BET from longliners at Réunion has encountered some problems in defining sufficient incentive for commercial participation, even on the boats chartered by IFREMER. Scientists from Réunion were encouraged to try to solve these and come forward with a proposal for a pilot project.

The WPT endorsed a proposal for a pilot project to be undertaken in 2002 in the Seychelles, included in Appendix III. This will take place in September 2002 using anchored FADs to facilitate tagging by a small longliner and *l'Amitié*. The objective is to investigate the best way to tag large numbers of YFT and BET, and will include a component of training for local personnel.

The WPT received a proposal for a pilot project for tuna tagging in Indian waters and Lakshadweep Islands (Appendix III). In scope, and bearing in mind previous successful experience in the adjacent Maldives, this proposal would be better classified as a small-scale project. However, there were some aspects which could benefit from a smaller pilot project, such as the plan to use longlining from a survey vessel. However, it was considered that the two planned activities should run simultaneously. The Working Party on Tagging recommended that funding for this project should be sought through the DG-FISH funds (identified in paragraph 7), preferably for the current year.

The Secretariat reported that, on a recent visit to Oman, the authorities had expressed enthusiasm for undertaking a 2-week pilot tagging project. This would be targeted at YFT, tagging from small vessels between September and February, with the objective of investigating the feasibility of tagging large numbers of medium sized YFT and training local personnel to do this.

It was emphasised that there are few reliable sources to tag medium-sized YFT which are rare in the central and southern Indian Ocean. WPT strongly encouraged the development of a proposal for a pilot project in Oman waters.

Similarly, a proposal for a pilot project investigating the feasibility of tagging tuna from handlines in Iranian waters should be developed. This area is also important in understanding the still unknown and probably complex migration route of medium-sized YFT.

Small and large-scale projects

The WPT agreed that practical implementation of the IOTTP has now started. A number of pilot projects have been initiated, or are planned for the near future, and two small-scale projects are planned (Table 1). Finally, the DG-Dev programme will be developed over the next year for its likely implementation in early 2004.

The only proposal for a small-scale project other than that from India was for a small-scale tagging project received by WPT was that from Mayotte. This is proposed for early 2003, medium scale tagging of 800 to 1 000 YFT, and some trial tagging of BET (Annex 4). The Working Party on Tagging recommended that funding for this project should be sought through the DG-FISH funds (identified in paragraph 7), preferably for the current year.

Australia has investigated the potential feasibility of doing a pilot or small-scale project jointly with Indonesia, tagging tuna off Indonesia. There is good potential for such a project, but the two countries are awaiting the formulation of an overall plan for tagging within the Indian Ocean (see paragraphs 56-57) before proceeding with development of a formal proposal. WPT encouraged such development by Australia and Indonesia, which would be able to tag tuna in an important part of the Indian Ocean using the wide tagging expertise of Australian scientists. It was recommended to plan to start this tagging operation in 2004 in order to obtain simultaneous tagging with the EU western Indian Ocean tagging. A full coordination between these two potential tagging plans should be organized.

It was agreed that projects using archival tags would necessarily involve the use of outside experts in these tagging techniques. Therefore they would probably be classified as small-scale rather than pilot projects. Amongst the IOTC member countries Australia is the only country with a large and positive experience in this type of tagging.

It was agreed that the DG-Dev large-scale project would most useful if it had as its main objectives the determination of growth and migration of fish tagged throughout the whole of the western Indian Ocean. This should include areas in the southwest (Mauritius, Réunion, northern Madagascar waters) and the northwest (Seychelles, Somali and Gulf of Oman). It was thought unlikely that the DG-Dev project would be able to answer questions about natural mortality or population size.

One very specific small-scale project that could be initiated would be to look at the influence of drifting FADs on the behaviour and changes of catchability of the various sizes of YFT and BET which have been increasingly taken under FADs. This could probably best be undertaken by EU scientists who would have the best access to the purse seine fleet, using electronic tags such as pingers, and might be a candidate project for the DG-Fish funding described in section 2.3. WPT urged EU scientists to develop a proposal for such a FAD tagging project.

5. FUTURE OF THE IOTTP

At its conception in 2000, the IOTTP was envisaged as a large scale programme answering questions of growth, migration, behaviour, mortality and population size. In particular, the estimation of mortality and population size was considered to need at least 2 years of intensive tagging over the whole Indian Ocean. It is recognised that the current funding structure will probably not allow such an intensive large-scale project to be developed, at least in the short term, but the WPT agreed that such a project should remain a goal of the programme.

It was also recognised that although tagging will provide essential information for stock assessment, there will remain some essential data that can not be derived from tagging, such as historical and current catch, effort and biological data. In this regard, it was recognised that at the moment Japan is investing considerable effort in improving Indian Ocean fisheries statistics under the OFCF programme, rather than directing large funding at the IOTTP. Reliable statistics can be considered an essential prerequisite for full use of much tagging data.

The WPT strongly encouraged all interested parties to make proposals for small-scale tagging projects in relation with their fisheries and is ready to give support (technical and in identifying funding) to such programmes that met the main objectives of the IOTTP.

The WPT emphasised that it was essential for the comprehensive development of the IOTTP that plans should be developed in a coordinated way over the whole of the Indian Ocean. Unnecessary duplication (or omission) of tagging effort directed at the various objectives identified in the WPT report of 2000 should be avoided.

The WPT agreed that, in order to assist in coordination of the IOTTP and to help scientists plan their tagging projects in the context of the overall programme,

- 1. All proposals for tagging should be available from the IOTC Web site;
- 2. The WPT should, as a rule, be given the opportunity to comment on proposals. An exception to this rule could be where the project must take place at short notice, before the next meeting of the WPT; and
- 3. When a proposal is provided to the WPT for comment, a single page summary should be prepared for inclusion in the WPT report. The format for such a summary is given in Appendix III.

Some simulations have already been conducted to identify the numbers of different sized tuna that should be tagged in each area of the Indian Ocean and software has been developed for conducting such simulations. However, in order to assist the development of small-scale and large-scale projects within the IOTTP the WPT recommended that the Secretariat commission an expert study to identify, for each of the specific objectives, the numbers of different sized tuna that should be tagged in each area of the Indian Ocean. This study should be based on simulations and on real results obtained by tagging programs in other oceans. This study should be completed before or during the time that the DG-Dev consultants are defining the objectives plan for the DG-Dev project. Further simulations might be needed as the small-scale tagging experiments proceed.

WPT urged all fishing Members to become involved in the tagging programme. Members should nominate liaison contacts, who will be essential for coordination of the programme, but it was recognised that, until the programme is fully operational, it may be difficult to get all Members to nominate official liaison officers. It was suggested that, in the interim, one scientist of each country member of WPT should act as temporary liaison officers (proposed list given as Appendix IV).

All data reported to the Secretariat as part of the IOTTP will be archived in the IOTC Secretariat's tagging database which will be integrated as part of WinTuna. Such data will be protected in the normal way by the IOTC rules on confidentiality and access to data. However, given ocean-wide nature of the tagging programme, it would be preferable, if data owners agreed, that their tagging data should be available in the public domain. To make sure that as much of the tagging data are in the public domain as possible, issues of access to data should be established at the start of all new projects. The EC scientists undertook to supply data from the *Mascaroi* tagging to the Secretariat on request and that these data would be in the public domain. Similarly, the Japanese scientists undertook to request permission from their administration to provide historical data from the JAMARC tagging.

6. CLOSE OF THE MEETING

The report of the meeting was adopted on June 11th 2002.

Project	Туре	Date	Status	Target Species	Target Size	Platform	Support	Feasibility tested	Tag type	Release numbers	Cost	Comments				
Mayotte	Pilot	May 2002	May 2002	ay 2002 Completed	May 2002 Completed	May 2002 Completed	May 2002 Completed	YFT	YFT Med, large	6-7 m HL, 8 m LL	DAF/ SPEM	>Tagging of medium size YFT from artisanal HL and small LL.	Conv, archival tested	Low	Low	Completed successfully, requires follow-up (below,
				 '	1	1	'	>Testing frozen squid bait.				proposed small-scale).				
								>Introduction of publicity and reward system.								
Mayotte	Small- scale	2003	Proposed	YFT, BET	Med, large	6-7 m HL, 8 m LL	DAF/ SPEM	>Tagging of medium size YFT from artisanal HL and small LL.	Conv, archival	Low	Low					
							 	>Introduction of publicity and reward system.								
Seychelles	Pilot	lot Oct 2002 P	Oct 2002 Planned	Oct 2002 Planned	ct 2002 Planned YFT, BET,	YFT, BET,	Small, (med, large (Gov't and SFA, IRD, IOTC	>Tagging with mono LL gear and HL gear.	Conv, archival	Med	Med	Work proposed. Contractor identified.			
				SKJ	SKJ al	al LL		>Test tagging sampan with LL.								
									>Trial experimental HL and LL fishing techniques.							
								>Investigate tagging on anchored FADs and seamounts								
							 	>Test effectiveness of frozen baitfish species.								
Seychelles	Pilot		To be proposed (para. 28)			Gov't and commerci al	SFA, IRD, IOTC	Bait survey and fishing		None	Med					
Oman	Pilot	2003	To be proposed	YFT	Medium	8-10 m HL	Oman MSFC	 >Tagging of medium sized YFT from small-scale HL and troll vessels. >Tagging of troll caught 	Conv	Med	Low	Tagging consultancy completed (Lewis, 1995). Oman govt interested in developing small				

 Table 1. Status of tagging projects: completed, proposed and potential

Project	Туре	Date	Status	Target Species	Target Size	Platform	Support	Feasibility tested	Tag type	Release numbers	Cost	Comments
								YFT from sport fleet. >Investigate local baitfish abundance.				scale project targeting Nov to Feb peak yellowfin season.
Iran	Pilot	*peak YFT period	To be proposed	YFT	Medium	Artisanal craft	Iranian govt	Tagging of medium sized YFT from locally available vessels.	Conv	Med	Med	Proposal to conduct tagging work to be prepared and submitted to IOTC for consideration.
India	Pilot/ Small- scale	2002 – 2003 –	Proposed	SKJ, YFT	Small, med	Small- scale PL, HL, TR, govt LL survey vessel	Govt FSI, tagging experience from Maldives, survey	 >Test cost effectiveness of tagging from artisanal pole and line, troll/handline and survey longline vessels. >Train local personnel in tagging operations and mark and recapture studies. 	Conv	Med, high	Med	Proposal prepared by FSI. Strong government support for project. Proposal prepared by FSI soliciting IOTC funding.
Regional	Pilot	Aug/ Sept	Proposed				IOTC, IRD	>Estimation of tag recovery numbers needed to answer various questions		None	Low	
Regional	Pilot	Aug/Sept	Proposed				IOTC, IRD	Desk study of bait resources (paragraph 39)		None	Low	
Réunion	Pilot/S mall- scale		To be proposed	YFT/ BET			IFREMER / IRD	>Tagging with longlines	Conv?	Low	Low	

HL=handline, LL=longline, TR=troll, PL=pole and line

APPENDIX I – LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

David Agnew

Department of Environmental Science and Technology Renewable Resource Assessment Group, Imperial college RSM Building, Prince Consort Road SW7 2BP London, UNITED KINGDOM Phone: 44-207-594-9273 Fax: 44-207-589-5319 e-mail: d.agnew@ic.ac.uk

Alejandro Anganuzzi

Deputy Secretary Indian Ocean Tuna Commission P.O.Box 1011 Fishing Port Victoria, SEYCHELLES Phone: (+248) 225591 Fax: (+248) 224364 e-mail: aa@iotc.org

David Ardill

Secretary Indian Ocean Tuna Commission P.O.Box 1011 Fishing Port Victoria, SEYCHELLES Phone: (+248) 225494 Fax: (+248) 224364 e-mail: iotcsecr@seychelles.net

Juan José Areso

Spanish Fisheries Representative Oficina Espanola de Pesca (Spanish Fisheries Office) P.O.Box 14 Victoria, SEYCHELLES Phone: (+248) 324578 Fax: (+248) 324578 e-mail: jjareso@seychelles.net

Haritz Arrizabalaga de Mingo

Dept. of Fisheries Resources Fisheries Resources Department Fisheries and Food Tecnological Institute Txatxarramendi ugartea, z/g 48395 Sukarrieta, SPAIN Phone: 34-94-602 9400 Fax: 34-94-687 00 06 e-mail: harri@suk.azti.es

Rose-Marie Bargain (Ms)

Industrial Fisheries Research Manager Seychelles Fishing Authority P.O. Box 449 Fishing Port Victoria, SEYCHELLES Phone: (+248) 224597 Fax: (+248) 224508 e-mail: rbargain@sfa.sc

Marinelle Basson (Ms)

Tropical and Pelagic Ecosystems Division of Marine Research Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation P.O. Box 1538 Castray Esplanade 7001 Hobart, AUSTRALIA Phone: 3 6232 5492 Fax: 3 6232 5012 e-mail: Marinelle.Basson@csiro.au

Alicia Delgado de Molina (Ms)

Biologa Centro Oceanográfico de Canarias Instituto Español de Oceanografía P.O. Box 1373 38080 Santa Cruz de Tenerife, SPAIN Phone: (+34-922) 54 94 00 Fax: (+34-922) 54 95 54 e-mail: alicia.delgado@ieo.rcanaria.es

Manuel Ducrocq

Responsable bureau pêche DAF-Service des pêche et de l'environnement marin BP 103 97600 Mamoudzou, Mayotte, FRANCE Phone: 02-69-61-12-84 Fax: 02-69-61-35-13 e-mail: daf.spem.mayotte@wanadoo.fr

Juan Manuel Elices

Asociacion Nacional de Armadores de Buques Atuneros Congeladores (ANABAC) Txibitxiaga, 24 entreplanta 48730 Bermeo, SPAIN Phone: 0034-913504532 Fax: 0034-913598441 e-mail: indemar@telefonica.net

Alain Fonteneau

Scientist Seychelles Institut de recherche pour le développement P.O. Box 570 Victoria, SEYCHELLES Phone: (+248) 22 47 42 Fax: (+248) 22 47 42 e-mail: irdsey@seychelles.net

Marco A. Garcia

Systems Analyst/Programmer, IOTC Indian Ocean Tuna Commission P.O.Box 1011 Fishing Port Victoria, SEYCHELLES Phone: 248-225494 Fax: 224364 e-mail: mgarcia@iotc.org

Michel Goujon

Scientific Counsellor Comité National des Pêches Maritimes et des Elevages Marins 51 rue Salvador Allende 92027 Nanterre, FRANCE Phone: (+33-1) 47 75 75 03 Fax: (+33-1) 49 00 06 02 e-mail: mgoujon@comite-peches.fr

Deepak K. Gulati

Sr. Fisheries Scientist Fishery Survey of India - HQ Botawala Chambers, Sir P M Road 400 001 Mumbai, INDIA Phone: 2617144,5 Fax: e-mail: deegulatiin@yahoo.com

David Itano

Researcher Associate Joint Institute of Marine and Atmospheric Research, University of Hawaii Manoa 1000 Pope Road, MSB 312 96822 Honolulu, HAWAII Phone: (1) 808 956 4108 Fax: (1) 808 956 4104 e-mail: ditano@soest.hawaii.edu

Farhad Kaymaram

Head-Stock Management Group (Persian Gulf & Oman Sea) Iranian Fisheries Research Organization P.O.Box 14155-6116 No. 297, West Fatemy Tehran, IRAN Phone: (+98-21) 694 5145 Fax: (+98-21) 642 0732 e-mail: kaymaram_ifro@yahoo.com

Geoffrey Kirkwood

Director Department of Environmental Science and Technology Renewable Resource Assessment Group, Imperial college RSM Building, Prince Consort Road SW7 2BP London, UNITED KINGDOM Phone: (+44-207) 594 9272 Fax: (+44-207) 589 5319 e-mail: g.kirkwood@ic.ac.uk

Ying-Chou Lee

Associate Professor Institute of Fisheries Science, National Taiwan University 1, Section 4, Roosevelt Road Taipei, Taiwan 106 Phone: 886-2-2363-0846 Fax: 886-2-2363-3171 e-mail: i812@ccms.ntu.edu.tw

Song Li-Ming

College of Oceanography Shanghai Fisheries University P.O.Box 85 334 Jun Gong Road 200090 Shanghai, CHINA Phone: 0086-021-65710205 Fax: 0086-021-65710203 e-mail: lmsong@shfu.edu.cn

Xu Liuxiong

Professor College of Oceanography Shanghai Fisheries University P.O.Box 85 334 Jun Gong Road 200090 Shanghai, CHINA Phone: 0086-21-65710203 Fax: 0086-21-65710203 e-mail: 1xxu@shfu.edu.cn

Vincent Lucas

Fisheries Biologist - tuna section Seychelles Fishing Authority P.O. Box 449 Fishing Port Victoria, SEYCHELLES Phone: 248 224597 Fax: (248) 224508 e-mail: vlucas@sfa.sc

Olivier Lumineau

Trainee Seychelles Institut de recherche pour le développement P.O. Box 570 Victoria, SEYCHELLES Phone: 248 224742 Fax: 248 224742 e-mail: olivier_lumineau@yahoo.fr

Francis Marsac

Directeur, Unité de recherches #109 Institut de recherches pour le développement B.P. 172 CEDEX 97492 Ste. Clotilde, LA REUNION Phone: 262 295629 Fax: 262 284879 e-mail: marsac@ird.fr

Olivier Maury

Researcher Seychelles Institut de recherche pour le développement P.O. Box 570 Victoria, SEYCHELLES Phone: 248-224742 Fax: 248-224742 e-mail: maury@ird.fr

Mahyam Mohammad-Isa (Ms)

Head of Fishery Oceanography and Resource Exploitation Marine Fishery Resources Development and Management Department/SEAFDEC Southeast Asian Fisheries Development Center Fisheries Garden, Chendering 21080 Kuala Terengganu, MALAYSIA Phone: 09-6163150/6163170 Fax: 09-6163136 e-mail: yamseafdec@po.jaring.my

M.K.R. Nair

Fisheries Development Commissioner Ministry of Agriculture Krishi Bhawan 110001 New Delhi, INDIA Phone: 011-3386379/384030 Fax: 011-3384030 e-mail: m.k.r.nair@mailcity.com

Tsutomu (Tom) Nishida

Research Coordinator for Ocean and Ressources Fisheries Agency of Japan National Research Institute of Far Seas Fisheries 5-7-1, Orido 424-8633 Shimizu-shi, JAPAN Phone: 0543 36-6037 Fax: 0543 36-6038 e-mail: tnishida@affrc.go.jp

Praulai Nootmorn (Ms)

Chief of Marine Resources Survey Unit Department of Fisheries Andaman Sea Fisheries Development Center Maung District, 77 Sakdidej Road 83000 Phuket, THAILAND Phone: 66-76-391138, 391140 Fax: 66-76-391139 e-mail: afdec@phuket.ksc.co.th

Viveca Nordstrom (Ms)

Systems Manager Indian Ocean Tuna Commission P.O.Box 1011 Fishing Port Victoria, SEYCHELLES Phone: 22 54 94 e-mail: viveca.nordstrom@iotc.org

Hiroaki Okamoto

Scientific Researcher Fisheries Agency of Japan National Research Institute of Far Seas Fisheries 5-7-1, Orido 424-8633 Shimizu-shi, JAPAN Phone: 81-543-36-6044 Fax: 81-543-35-9642 e-mail: okamoto@affrc.go.jp

Pilar Pallarés (Ms)

Scientist Instituto Español de Oceanografía Corazón De María 8 28002 Madrid, SPAIN Phone: 34 91 3473620 Fax: 34 91 4135597 e-mail: pilar.pallares@md.ieo.es

Renaud Pianet

Chercheur Oceanographe Centre de Recherche Halieutique Méditerrannéenne et Tropicale IRD - Centre de Recherche Halieutique Méditerrannéenne et Tropicale B.P. 171 Av. Jean Monnet CEDEX 34203 Sète, FRANCE Phone: (+33-4) 99 573239 Fax: (+33-4) 99 573295 e-mail: pianet@ird.fr

Liu Qianfei

Division of Distant Water Fisheries Ministry of Agriculture, Bureau of Fisheries No. 11 Nongzhanguan Nanli 100026 Beijing, CHINA Phone: 010-64192974 Fax: 010-64192951 e-mail: inter-coop@agri.gov.cn

Hiroshi Shono

Researcher, Mathematical Biology Section Fisheries Agency of Japan National Research Institute of Far Seas Fisheries 5-7-1, Orido 424-8633 Shimizu-shi, JAPAN Phone: +81-543-36-6000 ext. 39 Fax: +81 543-35-9642 e-mail: hshono@affrc.go.jp

Chang Shui-Kai

Associate Researcher, Stock Assessment Division Deep Sea Fisheries Research and Development Centre Fisheries Administration, Council of Agriculture No. 1, Fishing Harbour North 1st Road, Chine Cheng District, 80628 Kaohsiung, Taiwan Phone: 886-7-8136215 Fax: 886-7-8136214 e-mail: skchang@mail.dsfrdc.gov.tw

V.S. Somvanshi

Director-General, Fishery Survey of India Directorate General of Fisheries Ministry of Agriculture Botawala Chambers, Sir P M Road, Fort 400 001 Mumbai, INDIA Phone: (+91-022) 2617101 Fax: (+91-022) 2702270 e-mail: somvanshi@rediffmail.com

APPENDIX II – AGENDA

- 1. Opening of the Meeting
- 2. Present and foreseeable funding
- 3. Review of the progress on and prospects for the European Union DG DEV tagging programme.
- 4. Review of other tagging projects under way in the Indian Ocean
- 5. Actions carried out since the previous WPT meeting
- 6. Revised organization for the future tagging programme
 - 6.1. Pilot tagging studies (already discussed in 2000 and 2001)
 - 6.2. Small scale tagging with a limited scope which would be carried out in 2002-2003 using the European Union and Japanese funding.
 - 6.3. Full scale tagging programme covering several years and the entire ocean using live-bait baitboats
- 7. Pilot tagging
 - 7.1. Recommended actions
 - 7.1.1. Review of the live bait problems, tests of catch and storage of the live bait; prospects of the use of Milkfish
 - 7.1.2. Fishing and tagging tests using LL
 - 7.1.3. Pilot tagging programme and sport fishing
 - 7.1.4. Publicity of the IOTC tagging: design of IOTC tagging posters.
 - 7.1.5. Distribution and use of the slide show "IOTC tagging programme", created in 2001
 - 7.1.6. Other items
 - 7.2. Discussion of the pilot tagging operations
 - 7.2.1. Proposed pilot tagging operations.
 - 7.2.2. Priorities, possibly including pilot tagging programme in other countries.
 - 7.2.3. List of materials required.
- 8. Limited tagging programmes recommended for 2002-2003
- 9. Future full-scale IOTC tagging programme
 - 9.1. Financial prospects, IOTC and national
 - 9.2. Global prospects for the full scale tagging programme, which had been recommended in 2000 and later approved in its principle by the IOTC Commission in December 2001.
 - 9.3. Integration of the DG DEV tagging programme into the full scale IOTC programme
 - 9.4. What tagging and what research concerning DCP associated tunas?
 - 9.5. What tagging for swordfish?
 - 9.6. Identification and responsibilities for the tagging liaison officers
 - 9.7. Other items
- 10. Other matters

APPENDIX III - RECENTLY COMPLETED PILOT STUDY IN MAYOTTE

COUNTRY	Mayotte, FRANCE
ORGANIZATION	DAF-SPEM
TYPE OF PROJECT	Pilot project
DATE AND DURATION	21 to 29 may 2002 / 9 full days
IOTTP FUNDING	(amount not for inclusion on Web page)
COUNTERPART FUNDING/SOURCE	IRD, DAF-SPEM (amount not for inclusion on Web page)
STAFFING	J-P. HALLIER, B. WENDLING, M. DUCROCQ
CONTACT	M. DUCROCQ Fisheries office : daf.spem.mayotte@wanadoo.fr

PUBLICITY :

- meeting in the coastal villages with the chief, fishermen cooperative managers and fishermen
- 100 posters distributed in all fishermen's locations translated in local language
- media conference with TV and newspaper reporters
- media communiqué on local radio
- information by mail to the fisheries offices of the 3 Comores islands

ТАБ ТҮРЕ	Conventional and archival tags
SPECIES TARGETED	YFT/BET
SIZE OF FISH	Medium
NUMBER TARGETED	600-1 000
FISHING METHODS	Small size longline / handline
TAGGING PLATFORM	Chartered small size longliner / fisheries office boat

OBJECTIVES : EVALUATION OF THE POTENTIAL FOR SMALL-SCALE TAGGING

- Identify the most interesting fisheries for conducting tagging operations (small LL, handliners)
- Evaluate capture rates for three species : YFT, BET, SKJ
- Evaluate possibilities of cooperation with local government, administration, professionals, medias, fisheries
- Evaluate the possibilities of milkfish production, investigate baitfish abundance
- Train the future local tagging counterpart on tagging techniques and requirements

PILOT PROGRAMME FOR TEST FISHING IN SEYCHELLES

COUNTRY	Seychelles
ORGANIZATION	SFA
TYPE OF PROJECT	Pilot project
DATE AND DURATION	01 August to 15 November, 2002
IOTTP FUNDING	(amount not for inclusion on Web page)
COUNTERPART FUNDING/SOURCE	IRD, IOTC (amount not for inclusion on Web page)/ Residual IPTP funds
STAFFING	D. ITANO, B. WENDLING, P. DEWALS, SFA staff
CONTACT	D. ARDILL, IOTC/ A. FONTENEAU, IRD Seychelles

PUBLICITY :

- Contacts with cannery management in Seychelles, Mauritius and Madagascar
- Contacts with fishery associations of major longline and purse seine fishing parties
- Briefing of IOTC sampling scheme staff
- Posters distributed to purse seine fleet, canneries and sampling schemes

TAG TYPE	Conventional
SPECIES TARGETED	YFT/BET
SIZE OF FISH	Medium
NUMBER TARGETED	
FISHING LOCATION	FADs to be set near Seychelles and seamounts
METHODS	Small size longline, vertical longline, handline, troll
TAGGING PLATFORM	SFA boats, chartered small size longliner

OBJECTIVES : EVALUATION OF THE POTENTIAL FOR MEDIUM-SCALE TAGGING

- Identify the fishing methods and locations for conducting tagging operations
- Evaluate capture rates for two species : YFT, BET
- Train the future local tagging counterparts on tagging techniques and requirements

PROPOSAL FOR SMALL-SCALE TAGGING IN MAYOTTE

COUNTRY	Mayotte, FRANCE		
ORGANIZATION	DAF-SPEM		
TYPE OF PROJECT	Small scale project		
DATE AND DURATION	2003 during the 2 YFT peak (February to may and September to November)		
IOTTP FUNDING	Residual IPTP funds (amount not for inclusion on Web page)		
COUNTERPART FUNDING/SOURCE	DAF-SPEM (amount not for inclusion on Web page)/		
STAFFING	IOTC technical staff and M DUCROCQ		
CONTACT	M DUCROCQ Fishing office : daf.spem.mayotte@wanadoo.fr		

METHODOLOGY :

- Real time refinement of information net about place, period and concentration of tuna
- Coordination of the local taggers and liaison officer by the IOTC methods for tags deployment and recovers
- Tagging on anchored FADs and free school tuna
- Tagging on small size long-liner at the maximal tuna capture rate period

PUBLICITY :

- meeting in the coasted villages with the chief, fishermen cooperative managers and fishermen
- Posters distributed in all of the fishermen place traduced in local language
- media conference with TV and news paper reporters
- media communicate on local radio
- Meetings with the local fisheries authorities in the Comoros islands for an efficient recover rate

TAG TYPE	Conventional, archival tags
SPECIES TARGETED	YFT/BET
SIZE OF FISHES	Medium
NUMBER TARGETED	600-1000
TYPE OF FISHING METHODS	Handline / small size long line
TAGGING PLATFORM	Fishing office boat / small size long-liner

OBJECTIVES

- Interaction between the industrial and the coastal fisheries in the Mozambique channel
- Evaluate YFT migration in the Mozambique channel
- Introducing of publicity and rewards system
- Investigate baitfish abundance and survey

PROPOSAL FOR SMALL-SCALE TAGGING IN INDIA

COUNTRY	India
ORGANIZATION	FSI
TYPE OF PROJECT	Small scale project
DATE AND DURATION	2003-2004
IOTTP FUNDING	EC DG-FISH funds (amount not for inclusion on Web page)
COUNTERPART FUNDING/SOURCE	FSI (amount not for inclusion on Web page)
STAFFING	Consultants and FSI staff
CONTACT	V. Somvanshi, FSI

METHODOLOGY :

- Provision of tags, data recording equipment
- Tagging with pole-and-line and handlines from small craft
- Tagging from longline on FSI survey vessel
- Provision of funds for payment of fish released
- Provision of funds for rewards for recoveries
- Provision of funds for incentives
- Training of local taggers

PUBLICITY :

- Posters for fishermen, fish merchants and processors
- Newspaper advertisements
- TV coverage

ТАБ ТҮРЕ	Conventional tags
SPECIES TARGETED	YFT/BET/SKJ
SIZE OF FISHES	Small/medium
NUMBER TARGETED	2 000-4 000
TYPE OF FISHING METHODS	Handline, pole-and-line / short monofilament longline
TAGGING PLATFORM	Artisanal craft, FSI survey vessel
LOCATION	Lakshadweep Islands

OBJECTIVES

- Interaction between the industrial and the coastal fisheries in the Lakshadweep/Maldives area
- Evaluate YFT migration in the Arabian Sea
- Investigate baitfish abundance and survey

APPENDIX IV: LIST OF PROPOSED NATIONAL LIAISON OFFICERS

Country	Name
AUSTRALIA	John Gunn
CHINA	Xu Liuxiong
COMORES	Ahmed Said Soilihi
FRANCE	Alain Fonteneau
FRANCE	Michel Goujon
INDIA	V.S.Somvanshi
INDONESIA	Retno Andamari
IRAN	Farhad Kaymaram
IRD SEYCHELLES	Patrice Dewals
JAPAN	Tsutomu (Tom) Nishida
KENYA	
KOREA	Dae-Yeon Moon
MADAGASCAR	Edaly
MALAYSIA	Abu Talid Bin Ahmad
MALDIVES	Ali Waheed
MAURITIUS	Devanand Norungee
MAYOTTE(FRANCE)	Manuel Ducrocq
OEP SEYCHELLES	Juan José Areso
OMAN	Lubna Hamoud Said Al-Kharusi
La REUNION(FRANCE)	Marc Taquet
SEYCHELLES	Vincent Lucas
SOUTH AFRICA	
SPAIN	Alicia Delgado de Molina
SPAIN	Julio Morón
SRI LANKA	Champa Amarasiri
TAIWAN, CHINA	Shui-Kai Chang
THAILAND	Praulai Nootmorn
UK	Neil Ansell